
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • WWW.NL-NH.COM 

 
 

 

Board of Selectmen 

Meeting Minutes 

February 19, 2008 

 

PRESENT: 

Mark Kaplan, Selectman 
Larry Ballin Selectman 
Jessie Levine, Town Administrator 
Richard Lee, Public Works Department 
Bob Lavoie, Resident 
Debbie Cross Intertown Record 
Sarah LeBrun, Argus Champion 
 
Mark Kaplan opened the meeting at 8 a.m., and the Board addressed nine areas of business during the 
meeting.  
 
Public Works Department Update: On January 9, Richard Lee, Jessie Levine and John Early attended 
an information session on single stream recycling by invitation of the Concord Regional Solid Waste Co-
op.  At this meeting, Selectmen received copies of the informational handout provided by CRSWC, as 
well as a cover memo from Richard Lee addressing the impact of single stream recycling on New London 
specifically.  Before considering this further, he would like to hear the Selectmen’s opinion.   
 
A summary of facts: 
 

• Because of its current success with recycling and proximity to the proposed facility site, New London 
was one of nine or so towns invited to join this coop as an adjunct for single stream recycling.   

• New London would receive first tier rates ($10/ton) and revenue sharing. (Other communities may be 
invited to join later, but not at first tier rates.) 

• It would require a 10 to 15 year commitment, and would be “all or nothing”; that is, the Town could 
not pull out certain recyclables as newspaper and cardboard (those generate more revenue).   

• More plastics could be recycled, though Richard Lee was not sure if all plastics could go into the 
recycling with single stream. He knows they could add soda and milk containers and #7 plastics.   

• Adjunct Coop members would not be required to participate in the capital costs. 

• This would not be an entrée for New London to transfer all solid waste to the Concord facility. This is 
just for the single stream recycling. 

 
At this meeting, he put on the table several outstanding questions such as site, staffing, equipment needs, 
etc., and some comparative figures.  In 2006, New London’s benefit as a result of recycling (including 
both cost avoidance and recycling revenue) was $107,831.41.  It would have been $68,769 with this 
system of single stream.  In 2007, New London’s total benefit from recycling was $149,625. With single 
stream it would have been $91,125.  He does not see single stream as saving any money, including on 
labor costs, because he would need the same number of personnel at the Transfer Station.  He pointed out 
that the Town would lose significant revenue on some recyclables such as newspapers and cardboard.   
 
Mark Kaplan asked if New London’s tonnage has gone down. Richard Lee and Jessie Levine said that 
trash tonnage has gone down and recycling has increased.  Mark Kaplan pointed out that the estimate is 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   Page 2 of 5 
February 19, 2008 
 
that single stream would increase recycling by 50%, and Larry Ballin asked if that would require more 
personnel. Richard Lee said they feel that with current staffing, they could handle as much as 25% or 30% 
more, but he is not sure about 50%. Jessie Levine said that single stream recycling would not require all 
the sorting out; it should be less labor intensive. In short, single stream recycling would be easier and 
more convenient for residents, but more costly to the Town. The question is, do people prefer to go to 
single stream which would increase the amount of recycling, and thus benefit the environment, or do 
people want to stay with the higher revenue system of recycling, with that revenue being used to offset 
taxes.  Mark Kaplan pointed out that it seems New London is doing both right now.   
 
Richard Lee said that the pay-as-you-throw system would cover the budget for trash disposal: wages, 
equipment, trucking, tipping fees, but not for recycling. Mark Kaplan asked how much revenue would be 
generated to the Town just from selling the bags for the pay-as-you-throw.  That depends on the size of 
bag and other factors. Jessie Levine and Richard Lee suggested the Town may want to sell different sized 
bags.  As a hypothetical, Jessie Levine suggested that if the Town were to charge $1 per bag, and each of 
New London’s 1800 households used two a week or 100 a year, that would be $180,000 of revenue.  
Mark Kaplan said, but would that be a “hidden tax”?  Jessie Levine said no, if anything, pay-as-you-throw 
would be more up front and direct. Right now cost of solid waste disposal is spread evenly through taxes.  
With pay-as-you-throw, people would pay based on how much trash they throw out. The real 
beneficiaries of pay-as-you-throw would be the seasonal residents and the elderly, who generate less trash 
per household. Larry Ballin agreed, with pay-as-you-throw, the cost of trash disposal becomes a user fee.  
 
He asked if the Town were to join this coop, would it gain any negotiating capability to get all its trash 
into the incinerator in Concord. Jessie Levine said, no, because that plant makes more money on spot 
tonnage than they would through any agreement with New London.  The Coop has repeatedly rejected 
requests to allow New London to join for solid waste disposal. 
 
In conclusion, Larry Ballin said he does not think single stream recycling is the best idea for New London 
at this time.  He pointed out that Wilmot does have a sort of modified single stream system there. Richard 
Lee said they are just getting rid of things there, but not really generating revenues from that.  Larry 
Ballin suggested that once the coop gets this up and running, and there is the potential for it to generate 
more revenue, they could look at it again.  But right now, New London is doing well on its recycling, and 
he feels the Town should stay where it is, and continue encouraging users to recycle more.  Jessie Levine 
agreed that New London does well with its recycling.  She pointed out that among the small list of towns 
invited to this meeting with the Coop, New London generates the most tons of recycling materials for its 
size.  She pointed out that New London generates only about 200 tons less in recycling than the Town of 
Bedford, which has five times the population of New London. 
 
Larry Ballin opened some discussion about the paper bags the facility provides now for mixed paper 
collection.  Richard Lee said that the Town pays $50 for 850 of those bags, and they are given out free to 
residents who come to the recycling facility.  He said that if each bag is filled with 6.5 pounds of paper, 
the revenue generated by recycling that paper pays for the cost of the bag.  Larry Ballin suggested they 
look into soliciting some sponsors or ads to put on the bags.  
 
Richard Lee said they continue to recycle glass by crushing it at the pit on Mountain Road and mixing it 
in with gravel. He said that they do receive some reimbursement from Northeast Resource Recovery 
Association (NRRA) for equipment, wages and benefits (at FEMA rates). Mark Kaplan asked if that 
means the Town saves on gravel.  Richard Lee said yes, if they can mix in about a yard of crushed glass 
with every 13 or 14 yards of gravel, they save about $1000 a year.  It has proven to be good base material, 
passing all the compacting test, etc. Jessie Levine said, for example, they used it in the base for the new 
Highway Department garage, and will use it in the base under the new sidewalks.  She said they will be 
looking into the idea of selling some of the crushed glass in the future, but have not yet had time to put 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   Page 3 of 5 
February 19, 2008 
 
together a program for that.  Bob Lavoie asked what the cost to the Town is for this project of crushing 
glass; there must be some outgoing expense.  Jessie Levine and Richard Lee said really very little. With 
the Regional Coop’s reimbursement, they recycle at least 50 tons of glass at no cost.  
 
Jessie Levine will write a letter to CRSWC and inform them of the Selectmen’s decision.  Also, they will 
continue to look into the pay-as-you-throw idea.  Larry Ballin suggested also that the Solid Waste 
Committee needs to be reenergized, and get up and running on some of these issues. 
 
Lastly, on the subject of recycling, Jessie Levine informed the Selectmen that the Town has received a 
grant from New England Recycling Coalition for conducting recycling workshops among businesses and 
institutions.  Those will take place in early June. 
 
On the subject of overtime, Richard Lee said that as of January 31, they had spent $8389 on overtime, and 
so far in February, each employee has averaged 15-20 hours per week of overtime.  The annual budget for 
overtime is $45,000 (proposed for 2008).  In response to Larry Ballin’s question, he agreed that this does 
have the potential to impact his budget in some other line item.  
 
As of January 31, they had spent $9240 on salt (70 tons per week), and $9181 on sand.  Proposed 2008 
budget for sand is $35,000, and proposed 2008 budget for salt is $25,000.  Larry Ballin asked about 
access to salt. Richard Lee said New London has a contract with American Salt which brings the salt in 
by train, rather than ship, and so far they have not had a problem.  They bring in about 325 tons of salt per 
year to New London.   
 
Jessie Levine said that she wanted to report to the Selectmen on the landfill repair completed in 2007.  
She reminded the Selectmen that during the October 2005 storm event, there was some slipping in the 
closure at the landfill after the October, and in 2006 the Town took out a $250,000 bond to cover 
engineering, construction oversight and repair work there. In 2007, that work was completed for 
$217,000, so the Town has saved $33,000 that it will not have to draw on the bond.  That will reduce the 
principal and interest going forward.  She said the engineers found several flaws in the original 
construction of the closure.  For example, some of the seams had been sealed only with duct tape.  Yet, as 
everyone noted at this meeting, that original closure construction passed DES inspection.   
 
Jessie Levine and Richard Lee said that if the proposed gravel road paving plan passes at Town Meeting, 
they will pave Quail Run first.  Interestingly, Jessie Levine reported that she has received more responses 
to the overall paving plan that will be presented at Town Meeting from those residents who do not want 
their gravel roads paved, than vice-versa.  She has told them that there will be a public meeting before 
paving goes forward on any individual road, and at this meeting, she asked Selectmen if there should be 
such a meeting for Quail Run.  Larry Ballin suggested they wait and see if the whole plan passes at Town 
Meeting (Article 19).  Everyone agreed that if it does, just a card could be sent to Quail Run residents 
advising them of schedule and type of work that will be done.   
 
Everyone agreed that with some roads such as Rowell Hill Road, changing it from gravel to paved should 
involve some narrowing of the road to mitigate potential for drivers to speed through there.  There would 
need to be more neighborhood discussion prior to action. 
 
Minutes February 11: Selectmen received an email from Sue Little proposing six amendments to the 
minutes.  Selectmen reviewed each, and agreed to amend paragraph three on page seven so that 
“required” reads “recommended.”  Larry Ballin added “Subcommittee” to “CIP” in the last line on page 
nine.  He moved to accept the minutes with those two amendments.  Mark Kaplan seconded. No further 
discussion. Motion unanimously approved.    
 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   Page 4 of 5 
February 19, 2008 
 
Capital Region Development Council: On the previous Tuesday, Jessie Levine and Ken McWilliams 
met with a consultant from the CRDC.  CRDC offers three types service: (1) it can make small business 
loans or loans to a community for economic development; (2) it consults with towns and helps identify 
measures necessary for economic development; and (3) it can partner with towns on a real estate basis.  
Bob Lavoie asked if this is a state agency, or private. It is a private organization, and does charge for 
services.  Jessie Levine suggested this group could be brought in as part of the Elkins planning. They do 
charge a $100 per hour consulting fee, but have a lot of experience and contacts.  She said that the Town 
could define a scope of services needed, and CRDC will get back with a proposal.  Larry Ballin suggested 
they wait on this until Elkins has had the charette. Jessie Levine agreed, and added that Clough Harbour 
will be conducting the charette, and is waiting for the Town to set a date in spring.  Bob Lavoie suggested 
also that CRDC might be useful during the master planning for the whole town.  
 
CAC Meeting-February 23: This meeting will be dedicated to reviewing the 2008 warrant.  Jessie 
Levine said members have received copies of that and she will be providing Selectmen with some 
supplemental information in preparation for Saturday’s meeting. Bob Lavoie suggested they have a map 
relative to Article 22.  Agreed.  Jessie Levine will provide copies of the one that the Conservation 
Commission gave to the Selectmen earlier in these discussions. Bruce King will be on the CAC agenda 
for the end of March meeting.   
 
Roundabout: The start up meeting for the Town, water precinct, hospital, engineers, contractors, State, 
PSNH, TDS, has been scheduled for March 4 at 2 p.m.   
 
Main Street:  Jessie Levine said that Randy Foose organized a meeting last Thursday for a discussion of 
funding needs for work on Main Street, though by far the larger portion of the meeting was devoted to a 
discussion of the need to address Crockett’s Corner. For safety reasons, the State feels this is a higher 
priority.  The State does plan to do a paving overlay in two years, and at that time may look at realigning 
the lanes, but no other commitments were made. Everyone at the meeting agreed to work together to 
come up with a solution for this dangerous intersection. Attending the meeting were Jessie Levine and 
Mark Kaplan, Representatives Randy Foose and Dave Kidder, and from DOT Bill Cass, Mike Dugas, and 
Alan Hanscom.    
 
Mark Kaplan said he inferred two tenets from discussions with DOT: (1) for safety reasons, Crockett’s 
Corner is more important to address right away, than is the work on Main Street, and (2) the Town is 
going to have to help pay for work there, if anything is to be done.  Jessie Levine agreed, noting that Alan 
Hanscom indicated that the greater the local financial contribution is, the faster it will happen.  
 
Committee Reports: Mark Kaplan reported that the only big change made during the Public Hearing on 
the 2008 budget was that—after lengthy discussion—the Budget Committee voted 5 to 2 to not 
recommend the conservation land purchase warrant article.  However, the Committee voted unanimously 
to leave the article in the warrant.  The decision to not recommend the passage paralleled, but was 
independent of, the decision made by the Board of Selectmen at its own meeting that morning. 
 
At today’s Selectmen’s meeting, there was some brief discussion on the history of that article, and the 
Selectmen’s and Budget Committee’s decision to not recommend it in the printed warrant.  Jessie Levine 
explained that the law does require a statement indicating that those two boards either do or do not 
recommend a particular (money) article.  There is no option for the Conservation Commission to place a 
written statement in the printed warrant, but the Conservation Commission will be present to make a case 
at Town Meeting. 
 
Wages and Salaries:  Jessie Levine reminded Selectmen that the proposed budget will include the 4.5% 
increases recommended by the Budget Committee, and that there had been some discussion of dividing 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes   Page 5 of 5 
February 19, 2008 
 
that into a 3% COLA, and 1.5% merit increase, but final decision on that division was left up to the Board 
of Selectmen.  She said if the Selectmen wish to finalize that decision today, Carol Fraley can be prepared 
to distribute the retroactive increases right after Town Meeting. Larry Ballin moved that Selectmen 
authorize the Finance Officer to move forward with preparation of retroactive pay checks for the 3% 
COLA, to be distributed upon passage of the proposed budget at Town Meeting.  Mark Kaplan seconded. 
No further discussion.  Motion unanimously passed.     
 
Signatures: Selectmen signed the following items with only one generating any discussion, and a denial. 
Specifically, Jessie Levine reported receipt of a request from Jack and Patricia Sheehan for an abatement 
of the sewer connection fee of $1 per square foot. Their position is that the 756 square foot addition to 
their home on Checkerberry Lane does not add a bedroom, but in fact they are reducing the number of 
bedrooms.  They pointed out in their letter that the State counts bedrooms in considering applications for 
septic systems.  Jessie Levine said she explained to the Sheehans that the Town does not consider only 
number of bedrooms when assessing the sewer connection fee, but considers that any additional living 
space will increase the use of the sewer system.  She added that abatements are usually granted based on 
hardship, not on a disagreement with the fee in principle. Mark Kaplan asked to confirm that this is the 
Town’s standard fee for sewer connections for all new buildings and additions, and that many have paid 
it.  Larry Ballin agreed, and said that no information has been presented that would lead Selectmen to 
grant an abatement in this case. He added that the Selectmen would be happy to meet with the Sheehans.  
 
Applications for Building Permits: 

 
� Raymond & Susan Chacho, 21Quail Run (Tax Map 109-021-000) install in ground pool with 4’ chain 

link fence surrounding area  (Permit #08-013) Approved. 
� Patricia H. Sheehan, 93 Checkerberry Lane, (Tax Map 044-020-000) renovate existing house, add 

new bedroom, kitchen, bathroom and garage (Permit #08-014) Approved.  
� Robert & Anne Odell, 1807 Little Sunapee Road (Tax Map 043-022-000) remodel, new kitchen, 2 

bathrooms, windows, doors, front deck & rear stairs (Permit #08-015) Approved. 
� Theodore & Cheryl Clark, 58 Old Coach Road (Tax Map 123-023-000) relocate/install 4 windows in 

first floor kitchen wall (Permit #08-016) Approved. 
 

Application for Amendments to Building Permits: 

 

� Lori & Chris Niehaus, 155 Owls Nest Road (Tax Map 141-001-002) minor change to garage’s 
location due to existing electrical transformer ground pad– (Permit #08-009) Approved. 

 

Application for use of Whipple Hall: 

 

• New London Democratic Committee Caucus, March 19th, 2008 6:30-10:00p.m. Mike Meller, Chair 
Approved. 

 

Signatures 

 

• Disbursement voucher week of 2/18/08 – Approved. 

The meeting adjourned at 9:15 a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Sarah A. Denz 
Recording Secretary 


